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Preface 

The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration Act 
and the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act. The Public Accounts consist of the annual report of 
the Government of Alberta and the annual reports of each of the 20 ministries. 
 
The Annual Report of the Government of Alberta contains Budget 2021 Key Results, the audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Performance Results, which compares actual performance 
results to desired results set out in the government’s strategic plan. 
 
This annual report of the Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation contains the Minister’s 
Accountability Statement, the ministry’s Financial Information and Results Analysis, a 
comparison of actual performance results to desired results set out in the ministry business 
plan. This ministry annual report also includes: 
 

• the financial statements of entities making up the ministry including Alberta 
Innovates, the Alberta Enterprise Corporation, the Invest Alberta Corporation and 
Travel Alberta for which the minister is responsible; 

 
• other financial information as required by the Financial Administration Act and Fiscal 

Planning and Transparency Act, as separate reports, to the extent that the ministry 
has anything to report;  

 
Each Ministry Annual Report should be considered along with the Government of Alberta 
Annual Report to provide a complete overview of government’s commitment to openness, 
accountability and fiscal transparency. 
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Minister’s Accountability Statement 

The ministry’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2022, was prepared under my direction 
in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the government’s accounting 
policies. All of the government’s policy decisions as at May 31, 2022 with material economic or 
fiscal implications of which I am aware have been considered in the preparation of this report. 
 
 

[ Original signed by Doug Schweitzer Minister of Jobs, Economy and Innovation ] 

Honourable Doug Schweitzer 
 
Minister of Jobs, Economy and Innovation 
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Message from the Minister  

The 2021-22 fiscal year was defined by resilience, 
adaptation and vision. Even as we continued to handle 
the economic impact of the pandemic and protected 
the livelihoods of Albertans, the Ministry of Jobs, 
Economy and Innovation implemented initiatives to 
help Alberta recover and position the province for 
future growth.  
 
The Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation was 
stood up in 2020 to implement and execute Alberta’s 
Recovery Plan as we faced one of the most difficult 
periods in our history. My ministry has supported 
Albertans and their businesses as they returned to 
work. We have also set the wheels in motion to 
diversify the economy, attract investment and create 
good jobs for Albertans.  

 
Throughout 2021-22, the ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation continued to support Alberta 
businesses through the pandemic. This included two programs that have been critical to supporting 
Alberta job creators throughout the pandemic: the Small- and Medium-Enterprise Relaunch Grant 
and Biz Connect. Both programs were introduced in 2020-21 and continued to provide supports 
over 2021-22.  
 
In the 2021-22 fiscal year, the Small- and Medium-Enterprise Relaunch Grant provided $120 
million to more than 22,700 applicants. In total, the program outlay was approximately $670 
million over two years to 48,000 organizations that employed more than 345,000 Albertans. Biz 
Connect continued to provide workplace guidance and supports to help Alberta businesses during 
the pandemic, answering 4,814 email requests for information in 2021-22. In total, Biz Connect has 
responded to 19,274 emails from Albertans and Alberta businesses since March 2020. 
 
In 2021-22, we introduced the Restrictions Exemption Program Implementation Grant – the first 
program of its kind in Canada to provide job creators funding to offset costs of implementing the 
Restrictions Exemption Program. Through the grant program, which was developed in direct 
response to the concerns raised by Alberta businesses and industry over the impact of public health 
restrictions, the ministry provided $11 million to assist more than 5,000 organizations that 
employed more than 100,000 Albertans.  
 
With an eye to the future, the ministry awarded $81.2 million to the University of Alberta, Entos 
Pharmaceuticals, Northern RNA, and Applied Pharmaceutical Innovations to enhance the province’s 
vaccine development and biomanufacturing capacity. The funding will help the organizations in the 
fight against COVID-19 and future infectious disease outbreaks while growing Alberta’s 
pharmaceutical and life sciences sector. 
 
This future focus is central to Alberta’s Recovery Plan. As part of the Recovery Plan and the 
Investment and Growth Strategy, Jobs, Economy and Innovation developed the Alberta Technology 
and Innovation Strategy. This strategy is critical to positioning Alberta to become an internationally 
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recognized technology and innovation hub that develops and attracts people, business and 
investment to grow the technology sector and diversify the economy.  
 
Another key part of the Investment and Growth Strategy was the Investment and Growth Fund, 
which was launched to support our drive to diversify the economy and attract businesses and 
investment. This deal-closing fund, which is worth $10 million, elevates Alberta’s competitiveness 
as investors make decisions about where to locate their businesses.  
Another component of increasing competitiveness and attracting investment is red tape reduction. 
Jobs, Economy and Innovation has continued this work and, as of March 2022, the ministry, 
including its agencies, boards and commissions, reported a 53.2 per cent reduction from its 
baseline count, exceeding our target of one-third reduction.  
 
We are already seeing the results of our efforts to diversify and attract investment. The province’s 
film and television industry is booming. Much of that has to do with the ministry’s push to enhance 
the Film and Television Tax Credit program in 2021-22 when we increased the program budget and 
eliminated the project funding caps.  Another booming sector in Alberta is technology and 
innovation. In 2020-21, we recapitalized/invested in the Alberta Enterprise Corporation and it has 
responded by attracting more than $1 billion in venture capital to the province. 
 
Jobs, Economy and Innovation will continue its work on economic diversification as the world 
recovers from the COVID-19 pandemic and economic downturn. I firmly believe the decade ahead is 
Alberta’s decade and throughout it, we will continue supporting Albertans and Alberta job creators 
to build a more resilient economic future for all Albertans. 
 
Because we’re just getting started. 
 

 

[ Original signed by Doug Schweitzer Minister of Jobs, Economy and Innovation ] 

Honourable Doug Schweitzer 

Minister of Jobs, Economy and Innovation 
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting 

The Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation includes the Department of Jobs, Economy and 
Innovation as well as Alberta Innovates, the Alberta Enterprise Corporation, the Alberta Research 
and Innovation Advisory Committee, the Northern Alberta Development Council, the Invest Alberta 
Corporation, and Travel Alberta. 
 
The executives of the individual entities within the ministry have the primary responsibility and 
accountability for the respective entities. Collectively, the executives ensure the ministry complies 
with all relevant legislation, regulations and policies. 
 
Ministry business plans, annual reports, performance results and the supporting management 
information are integral to the government’s fiscal and strategic plan, annual report, quarterly 
reports and other financial and performance reporting. 
 
Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying ministry financial information 
and performance results for the ministry rests with the Minister of Jobs, Economy and Innovation. 
Under the direction of the Minister, I oversee the preparation of the ministry’s annual report, which 
includes the financial information, performance results on all objectives and initiatives identified in 
the Ministry Business Plan, and performance results for all ministry-supported commitments that 
were included in the 2021-24 Government of Alberta Strategic Plan. The financial information and 
performance results, out of necessity, include amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. 
The financial information is prepared using the government’s stated accounting policies, which are 
based on Canadian public sector accounting standards. The performance measures are prepared in 
accordance with the following criteria: 
 

• Reliable –Information used in applying performance measure methodologies agrees with 
the underlying source data for the current and prior years’ results.  

 
• Understandable –the performance measure methodologies and results are presented 

clearly. 
 

• Comparable –the methodologies for performance measure preparation are applied 
consistently for the current and prior years results.  

 
• Complete –outcomes, performance measures and related targets match those included in 

the ministry’s Budget 2021. 
 
As Deputy Minister, in addition to program responsibilities, I am responsible for the ministry’s 
financial administration and reporting functions. The ministry maintains systems of financial 
management and internal control, which give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks that are 
designed to: 
 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, executed in 
accordance with prescribed legislation and regulations, and properly recorded so as to 
maintain accountability of public money; 

• provide information to manage and report on performance; 
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• safeguard the assets and properties of the province under ministry administration; 

 
• provide Executive Council, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance, and the 

Minister of Jobs, Economy and Innovation the information needed to fulfill their 
responsibilities; and 

 
• facilitate preparation of ministry business plans and annual reports required under the 

Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act. 
 
In fulfilling my responsibilities, I have relied, as necessary, on the executives of the individual 
entities within the ministry 
 
 
[ Original signed by Kate White Deputy Minister of Jobs, Economy and Innovation ] 
 
Kate White 
Deputy Minister of Jobs, Economy and Innovation  
May 31, 2022
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Results Analysis 
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Ministry Overview 

Over the course of the 2021-22 fiscal year, the Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation continued 
to lead Alberta’s economic recovery efforts during the COVID-19 pandemic and a global economic 
recession. The ministry’s priority was getting Albertans back to work by delivering policies, 
strategies, and programs that restore investor confidence in Alberta, increase investment and trade, 
grow and diversify key sectors of the province’s economy, and lay the foundation for an innovative 
and competitive economy in a post-pandemic world.  
 
Ministry Outcomes 
Three outcomes were identified in the ministry’s 2021-24 Business Plan, as follows: 
 
Outcome One: Alberta’s economy is recovering 
 
Outcome Two: Investment and trade are driving Alberta’s economic recovery 
 
Outcome Three: Technology and innovation are enabling Alberta to build on its strengths 
 
Organizational Structure 
The ministry consisted of the Department of Jobs, Economy and Innovation, as well as its agencies: 
Alberta Innovates, Alberta Enterprise Corporation, Invest Alberta Corporation, Travel Alberta, the 
Alberta Research and Innovation Advisory Committee, and the Northern Alberta Development 
Council. The department served as the government’s driver of economic policy, creating programs 
and tools that will help grow Alberta’s economy. The department’s structure was organized around 
economic policy and strategy development and implementation; building relationships with 
business, industry, and communities; and agency governance and program delivery to ensure 
alignment and accountability with Alberta’s overall economic priorities. 
 
Figure 1 -2021-22 Ministry Organizational Structure 
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Operational Overview  
 
The department included four divisions. The responsibilities of these divisions were as follows: 
 
Economic Policy and Strategy Division 
The Economic Policy and Strategy Division focused on ensuring policies and strategies were 
developed with a broad economic lens and line of sight to economic growth and job creation. Core 
division functions include:  

• Developing and delivering on economic policies and strategies for Alberta;  
• Undertaking economic modelling and data analytics, as well as policy foresight and future-

thinking to support policy and strategy development; 
• Managing the implementation and legislative aspects of core policy strategies; and 
• Coordinating various policy pieces through the decision-making process. 

 
Stakeholder Relations Division 
The Stakeholder Relations Division focused on ensuring relationships and formal partnerships with 
businesses, industry, and communities were fostered to increase market intelligence and inform 
strategic decisions by government and industry. Core division functions include:  

• Working with businesses seeking access to capital and new markets;  
• Working at the industry-level to capitalize on opportunities or address challenges;  
• Supporting communities and regions in achieving their economic development priorities; 
• Collaborating with departments and agencies on investment attraction initiatives; 
• Coordinating Alberta’s trade development activities; 
• Engaging in government-to-government advocacy on key issues, and providing advice and 

information on geopolitical issues; and 
• Supporting the Alberta Washington Office and Alberta Mexico Office. 

 
Agency Governance and Program Delivery Division 
The Agency Governance and Program Delivery Division focused on driving alignment between the 
priorities and activities of the ministry’s agencies and the department, delivering programming 
with a focus on quality and excellence in client service and ensuring the ministry’s business 
planning and corporate services are completed effectively. Core division functions include:  

• Ensuring oversight and alignment between the operations and strategic direction of the 
ministry’s agencies and the department;  

• Delivering programs that support Alberta’s businesses, communities, post-secondary 
institutions and entrepreneurs, increase innovation capacity and economic development; 

• Leading corporate planning, risk management, performance and public accountability 
reporting requirements for the department; and 

• Providing corporate accommodations services and supports. 
 
The department was also supported by the Financial Services Division, which provided strategic 
financial services including financial planning, reporting and operations services. 
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Agencies 

In 2021-22, the following six agencies, as defined under the Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act, 
were included under the ministry: 

Alberta Innovates  
Alberta Innovates played an important role in advancing the province’s research and innovation 
system. Building on the province’s strengths in environment, energy, health, food, agriculture, fibre, 
and emerging technologies, Alberta Innovates supported world-class researchers, entrepreneurs, 
and industry innovators. It offered cross-sectoral knowledge and expertise, funding, business 
supports, networks, and applied research facilities to turn ideas into products and products into 
companies. Alberta Innovates prepared an annual report separate from this one.  
 
Alberta Enterprise Corporation  
The Alberta Enterprise Corporation promoted the development of the venture capital industry 
supporting knowledge-based industries in Alberta. It invested as a limited partner in venture 
capital funds that finance early-stage technology companies in sectors including information, 
communications, life sciences, nanotechnology, advanced food manufacturing, artificial intelligence, 
financial technology and the environment. The Alberta Enterprise Corporation prepared an annual 
report separate from this one. 
 
Invest Alberta Corporation 
The Invest Alberta Corporation was established in July 2020. The corporation was given a mandate 
to promote, identify and pursue investment in Alberta, with a focus on high-value or high-impact 
investment. The Invest Alberta Corporation was established to deliver and facilitate seamless and 
responsive investment attraction services that are targeted and customized for investors to make 
the investment decision-making process as informed as possible, and to support the Government of 
Alberta in performing trade promotion and advocacy activities. The Invest Alberta Corporation 
prepared an annual report separate from this one.  
 
Travel Alberta  
Travel Alberta was established as the tourism-marketing agency of the Alberta government. It is the 
steward for the Alberta tourism brand and manages national and international tourism marketing 
programs, services and activities. Travel Alberta provided the Alberta tourism industry with the 
marketing tools, resources and information necessary to market their businesses effectively, 
leverage strategic marketing partnerships and drive a return on their marketing investments. 
Travel Alberta prepared an annual report separate from this one.  
 
Alberta Research and Innovation Advisory Committee  
The Alberta Research and Innovation Advisory Committee was mandated to provide expert and 
independent strategic advice and recommendations to the minister on research and innovation.  
 
Northern Alberta Development Council  
The Northern Alberta Development Council identified, promoted and advised on practical measures 
to advance economic and social development in northern Alberta. It provided a northern lens on 
existing and proposed government services and programs, while facilitating opportunities for 
stakeholders to connect and collaborate on northern issues of common interest. The Northern 
Alberta Development Council prepared an annual report separate from this one.  
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Key Highlights in the Past Year 

• Throughout 2021-22, the ministry continued to lead the execution of Alberta’s Recovery 
Plan, providing immediate supports for Albertans during the COVID-19 pandemic and 
working collaboratively with partner ministries, including Labour and Immigration, Energy, 
Agriculture, Forestry and Rural Economic Development, and Treasury Board and Finance to 
deliver strategies to grow and diversify Alberta’s economy over the long term. 

• The ministry developed the new Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy, a critical 
component of the government’s broader economic growth and recovery efforts. The Alberta 
Technology and Innovation Strategy will position Alberta to become an internationally 
recognized technology and innovation hub that develops and attracts people, business and 
investment to grow the technology sector and diversify the economy.  

• As part of the Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy, $15 million was provided in 
2021-22 to Alberta Innovates for the Alberta Scaleup and Growth Accelerator program to 
accelerate Alberta’s companies to scale and grow and to propel innovation through digital 
transformation. In September 2021, Alberta Innovates announced four successful 
accelerators to support startups in Alberta’s technology sector.  

• In December 2021, to help in the fight against COVID-19 and future infectious disease 
outbreaks while growing Alberta’s pharmaceutical and life sciences sector, the ministry 
awarded $81.2 million to the University of Alberta, Entos Pharmaceuticals, Northern RNA, 
and Applied Pharmaceutical Innovations to enhance the province’s vaccine development 
and biomanufacturing capacity. In 2021-22, $5 million was paid to the University of Alberta, 
while the remaining funding was shifted to 2022-23, pending decisions on federal 
contributions to the projects. 

• As of March 31, 2022, the Small and Medium Enterprise Relaunch Grant program provided a 
total of approximately $670 million in support to more than 48,000 Alberta organizations 
employing over 345,000 workers, to help offset the impact of public health measures. In 
fiscal year 2021-22 alone, $122 million in grant funding was expensed for over 22,700 
eligible applicants. 

• In October 2021, Alberta became the first jurisdiction in Canada to offer businesses, 
cooperatives and non-profit organizations support to offset costs associated with a proof of 
vaccination program through the Restrictions Exemption Program Implementation Grant 
delivered by the ministry. Through the Restrictions Exemption Program Implementation 
Grant, which was available from November 2021 to February 2022, more than 5,000 
organizations with an estimated 101,000 workers were approved for more than $11 million 
in support. 

• Biz Connect continued to provide workplace guidance and supports to help Alberta 
businesses during the pandemic, answering 4,814 email requests for information over the 
fiscal year. In total, Biz Connect has responded to 19,274 emails from Albertans and Alberta 
businesses since March 2020.  

• The ministry held a series of business and industry roundtables over the fall and winter, to 
provide clarity to stakeholders on changes to public health restrictions due to COVID-19. 
Through these roundtables, government gained a better understanding of the impacts of 
public health restrictions on different businesses and industries, in different regions of the 
province, in both rural and urban settings, and the supports needed to assist the province’s 
economic recovery. 

• The ministry also led and supported a series of Rural Economic Development Engagement 
Sessions from October to December 2021. The sessions enabled Albertans from diverse 
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backgrounds to share perspectives and offer suggestions to improve rural economic 
development and support continued economic recovery.  

• In December 2021, the ministry announced that eligible accommodation providers with a 
40 per cent decline in room revenue compared with 2019 would be able to keep tourism 
levy amounts collected between October 1, 2021 and March 31, 2022. This six-month 
abatement period freed-up $15.1 million in additional cash flow for eligible operators to 
employ staff, continue operations and provide services through the winter season.  

• The ministry developed the Women’s Economic Recovery Project in consultation and 
collaboration with stakeholders and partner ministries to address the negative impact the 
pandemic had on women’s economic participation, which threatened both gender equality 
and Alberta’s economic recovery. Funding of $10.6 million was provided in 2021-22 for 
multi-year support through the Woman’s Economic Recovery Challenge Grant Program; 
Woman’s Economic Recovery Capital Growth Initiative; and Women’s Economic Recovery 
Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) bursaries. 

• Travel Alberta’s mandate was expanded to enable the agency to work directly with 
communities, businesses, and entrepreneurs to develop new tourism destinations, 
products, and experiences to help the tourism industry recover and grow. Travel Alberta’s 
budget was increased by $22 million in 2021-22 to deliver on this expanded mandate. 

• The Film and Television Tax Credit was enhanced, including an increased budget and 
elimination of the project funding cap of $10 million. As a result, Alberta has seen 
unprecedented growth of its film industry as larger productions choose the province as a 
filming location. In 2021-22, the Film and Television Tax Credit program approved 31 
productions with investment totaling $494 million. Due to timing in project completion, 
$16.4 million in tax credits were issued for 19 productions. 

• The ministry continued to support clean tech growth through the Technology Innovation 
and Emissions Reduction (TIER) program, delivered by Alberta Innovates. $20 million was 
provided in 2021-22 (year two of the three-year program). TIER has the long-term potential 
to support over 1,300 jobs and contribute $169 million to Alberta’s GDP.  

• Working with Invest Alberta Corporation, the ministry implemented Alberta’s new deal-
closing tool, the Investment and Growth Fund as part of the province’s Investment and 
Growth Strategy. The Investment and Growth Fund elevates the province’s competitiveness 
during late-stage investment decision making by investors. In 2021-22, $6.34 million was 
committed to three projects to secure their investment in Alberta, of which $1.9 million was 
paid in 2021-22.  

• The cumulative value of Alberta Enterprise Corporation attracted venture capital funds 
(and their syndicate partners) invested in Alberta businesses exceeded $1 billion. The 
government’s recapitalization of the Alberta Enterprise Corporation builds on this result. 

• As of March 2022, the ministry, including the department and agencies, has exceeded the 
target of reducing red tape by one-third compared to the baseline of May 1, 2019, and is 
reporting a 53.2  per cent cumulative reduction from its 2019 baseline count. 
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Discussion and Analysis of Results 

COVID-19 / Recovery Plan 

In 2021-22, the Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation continued to lead the development and 
implementation of programs, supports and services integral to Alberta’s COVID-19 response and to 
protecting the livelihoods of Albertans. To support this work, the ministry spent $239.8 million 
against an approved budget of $121.5 million. The ministry provided Alberta businesses and job 
creators with the information and clarity they needed to navigate new and changing public health 
measures so they could continue to operate safely throughout the pandemic. The ministry also 
provided critical financial assistance to help ensure the survival of Alberta job creators. As the 
province shifted its focus to recovery and growth, the ministry continued to support Albertans and 
job creators hit hardest by the pandemic. Highlights include: 

• From the early days of the pandemic through to March 31, 2022, the Small and Medium 
Enterprise Relaunch Grant program provided a total of approximately $670 million in 
support to more than 48,000 Alberta organizations, employing over 345,000 workers to 
help offset the impact of public health measures. In the 2021-22 fiscal year alone, $122 
million in grant funding was provided to over 22,700 eligible applicants. 

• In October 2021, Alberta became the first jurisdiction in Canada to offer businesses, 
cooperatives and non-profit organizations support to offset costs associated with a proof of 
vaccination program through the Restrictions Exemption Program Implementation Grant. 
Through the Restrictions Exemption Program Implementation Grant, which was available 
from November 2021 to February 2022, more than 5,000 organizations with an estimated 
101,000 workers were provided more than $11 million in support. 

• Biz Connect continued to provide workplace guidance and supports to help Alberta 
businesses during the pandemic, answering 4,814 email requests for information in 2021-
22. In total, Biz Connect has responded to 19,274 emails from Albertans and Alberta 
businesses since March 2020.  

• Over the fall and winter of 2021-22, the ministry held a series of business and industry 
roundtables to provide clarity to stakeholders on changes to public health restrictions due 
to COVID-19. Through these roundtables, the government gained a better understanding of 
the impacts of public health restrictions on different businesses and industries, in different 
regions of the province, in both rural and urban settings, and the supports needed to assist 
the province’s economic recovery. Feedback received during the roundtables also informed 
the development of the Restrictions Exemption Program Implementation Grant and the 
decision to provide an additional tourism levy abatement to eligible providers. 

• In December 2021, the ministry announced that eligible accommodation providers with a 
40 per cent decline in room revenue compared with 2019 would be able to keep tourism 
levy amounts collected between October 1, 2021 and March 31, 2022. This six-month 
abatement period freed-up $15.1 million in additional cash flow for eligible operators to 
employ staff, continue operations and provide services through the winter season. 

• In December 2021, the ministry awarded $81.2 million to four entities ranging from a post-
secondary institution (University of Alberta) to industry and non-profits (Entos 
Pharmaceuticals, Northern RNA, and Applied Pharmaceutical Innovations) to enhance the 
province’s vaccine development and biomanufacturing capacity. This will help in the fight 
against COVID-19 and future infectious disease outbreaks while growing Alberta’s 
pharmaceutical and life sciences sector. In 2021-22, $5 million was paid to University of 
Alberta. The remaining funding has been shifted to 2022-23, pending decisions on federal 
contributions to the projects. 
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• The ministry developed the Women’s Economic Recovery Project in consultation and 
collaboration with stakeholders and partner ministries to address the negative impact the 
pandemic had on women’s economic participation, which threatened both gender equality 
and Alberta’s economic recovery. Funding of $10.6 million was provided in 2021-22 for 
multi-year support through the Woman’s Economic Recovery Challenge Grant Program; 
Woman’s Economic Recovery Capital Growth Initiative; and Women’s Economic Recovery 
Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) bursaries. 

 
Further information on the results of the COVID-19 supports provided by the ministry are reported 
under Key Objective 1.2, Deliver programs and tools to support Alberta’s economic recovery and 
diversification, including targeted assistance for those businesses most impacted by public health 
measures, and under Key Objective 1.3, Implement immediate recovery supports for Alberta’s 
tourism sector, and develop and implement a 10-year Tourism Strategy with Travel Alberta to 
position the sector for growth. 
 
In addition to providing these critical supports in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the ministry 
continued to lead the province’s economic recovery efforts in 2021-22, including leading the 
execution of Alberta’s Recovery Plan. This focus on Alberta’s economic recovery and growth is 
reflected in each of the ministry’s intended outcomes. Results achieved over the course of the fiscal 
year in support of these outcomes are captured throughout this report. 

Red Tape Reduction  

The Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation continues to remove regulatory barriers and reduce 
costs for Alberta’s job creators, modernize our regulatory systems, and improve the delivery of 
government services while ensuring effective regulatory oversight over vital consumer, 
environmental, health and safety protections, and fiscal accountability. The Government of 
Alberta’s ongoing commitment to reduce red tape by one third by 2023 is helping to make the 
province the most attractive destination for investment and job creation in North America, while 
strengthening Alberta’s competitive advantage. 
 
The ministry, including the department and agencies, exceeded the one-third reduction target and 
is reporting a 53.2 per cent cumulative reduction from its 2019 baseline count. The ministry 
accounts for less than five per cent of the Government of Alberta’s overall regulatory burden. The 
majority of the baseline count within the ministry continued to be attributed to Alberta Innovates. 
Alberta Innovates achieved a cumulative reduction of 61.5 per cent when compared to its 2019 
baseline count. 
 
Highlights of the ministry’s work to reduce red tape are further elaborated on in the reporting for 
Key Objective 1.4, Remove barriers for entrepreneurs and small businesses, including further 
reducing red tape in the ministry through digital transformation and improved service delivery. 
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Outcome One: Alberta’s economy is recovering 

Over 2021-22, Alberta’s economy continued to build 
momentum, diversify and gain strength. The work of the 
Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation helped support 
Alberta’s recovery and ensure that the province is positioned 
for growth over the short and longer-term.  

Key Objectives 

1.1 Lead the execution of Alberta’s Recovery Plan and 
work with partner ministries to drive strategies 
that build on Alberta’s strengths to grow key 
sectors. 

Alberta’s Recovery Plan focuses on providing immediate 
relief and support for Albertans during the COVID-19 
pandemic, creating jobs, investing in infrastructure, and 
diversifying the economy over the longer term.  
 
Throughout 2021-22, the ministry led the execution of 
Alberta’s Recovery Plan and worked collaboratively with 
partner ministries and agencies to deliver strategies to grow 
key sectors. This included leading the development of the 
Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy, as well as 
collaborating with Labour and Immigration on the Alberta at 
Work initiative, with Energy on the Hydrogen Roadmap, and 
with Treasury Board and Finance on promotion of the new 
Innovation Employment Grant. The ministry also supported 
other government-wide initiatives such as the Alberta 2030 
Strategy, broadband and data initiatives, as well as the 
Scaleup and Growth Accelerator program. 
 
The new Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy, 
developed by the ministry in 2021-22, is a critical component 
of the government’s broader economic growth and recovery 
efforts as identified in both the Recovery Plan and the 
Investment and Growth Strategy. The Alberta Technology 
and Innovation Strategy will position Alberta to become an internationally recognized technology 
and innovation hub that develops and attracts people, business and investment to grow the 
technology sector and diversify the economy by:  

• investing $30 million over four years starting in 2022-23, to increase the depth of Alberta’s 
technology and innovation talent pool;  

• developing an Interactive Digital Media Support program; and 
• investing $60 million over four years starting in 2022-23, in the areas of quantum science 

and artificial intelligence research and commercialization. 
 

In 2021-22, the government implemented the Innovation Employment Grant which provided $12.5 
million (budget $15 million) to promote investment and diversification by rewarding research and 
development spending in Alberta, regardless of the industry, and complementing the Job Creation 

Actions that Support the 
Priorities of the Government 
of Alberta Strategic Plan 
 
Key Priority Two:   
Protecting Livelihoods 
 
Objective One:  
Building on our province’s 
strengths by growing key 
and emerging sectors, and 
ensuring greater pipeline 
access 
 
Continued to lead 
implemention of Alberta’s 
Recovery Plan, a long-term 
strategy to build, diversify, and 
create jobs. 
 
Implemented immediate 
recovery supports for Alberta’s 
tourism sector and through 
Travel Alberta developed and 
implemented strategies to 
position the sector to grow and 
diversify. 
 
Continued to implement 
Alberta’s Investment and 
Growth Strategy, focusing the 
province’s investment 
attraction activities on 
established and emerging 
sectors and expanding the 
province’s investment. 
attraction presence globally. 
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Tax Cut by focusing on small and medium-sized firms in the 
earlier stages of operation. The Innovation Employment 
Grant was administered by Treasury Board and Finance, and 
the ministry played a key role in promoting the Innovation 
Employment Grant as part of the Alberta Advantage. 
 
The Alberta Hydrogen Roadmap was released in November 
2021. Following the release of the Roadmap, the ministry 
collaborated with Energy and other partners, including 
Alberta Innovates and Invest Alberta Corporation, on its 
implementation. The Roadmap is a key part of Alberta's 
Recovery Plan and sets the province on a path toward a 
lower emission future. Alberta is already the largest 
hydrogen producer in Canada. The roadmap builds on 
Alberta’s strengths in terms of the resources, expertise, and 
technology needed to quickly become a global supplier of 
clean, low-cost hydrogen. With a worldwide market 
estimated to be worth more than $2.5 trillion a year by 2050, 
the roadmap includes policy actions and provides support to 
the sector to help ensure hydrogen is Alberta’s next great 
energy export to fuel jobs, investment and economic 
opportunity across the province. Work was underway in 
2021-22 to develop the Hydrogen Centre of Excellence, 
which will provide the technology and innovation needed to 
achieve the goals of the roadmap. Starting in 2022-23, the 
ministry will invest $50 million over four years through 
Alberta Innovates to deliver testing, demonstration, piloting 
and validation capabilities to support the province’s 
hydrogen economy. 
 
From October to December 2021, the ministry also led and 
supported a series of rural economic development 
engagement sessions for the newly appointed Minister of 
Agriculture, Forestry and Rural Economic Development, the Honourable Nate Horner. More than 
1000 Albertans from across the province participated in a total of 17 engagement sessions that 
included 13 community sessions, two sector-focused sessions, a municipal stakeholder session, and 
an Indigenous stakeholder session.  The sessions enabled Albertans from diverse backgrounds to 
share perspectives and offer suggestions to improve rural economic development and support 
continued economic recovery.  
 
The ministry further supported Agriculture, Forestry, and Rural Economic Development in the site 
selection process for several investment projects to grow Alberta’s agri- and food- innovation 
system. Examples of investment projects include Calgary-based Phyto Organix, which is planning 
Alberta’s first plant protein processing facility in Southern Alberta. This will be the first facility of its 
kind in southern Alberta and will give Alberta a foothold into this growing consumer market. 
Calgary-based Greengate Power began construction of its $700-million Travers Solar plant in 
Vulcan County. This project received international investment from Copenhagen Infrastructure 
Partners and signed a power purchasing agreement with Amazon in June 2021. 

Actions that Support the 
Priorities of the Government 
of Alberta Strategic Plan 
 
Key Priority Two:   
Protecting Livelihoods 
 
Objective Three:  
Lowering tax rates and 
providing incentives that 
stimulate employment grow 
the economy and attract 
investment. 
 
Delivered tools and programs 
to support investment and job 
creation and the recovery of 
Alberta’s economy, such as 
the Innovation Employment 
Grant and the Film and 
Television Tax Credit. 
 
Through the Small and 
Medium Enterprise Relaunch 
Grant program, the 
government has committed 
over $670 million in funding for 
organizations (businesses, 
cooperatives and non-profits) 
that saw a revenue reduction 
of at least 30 per cent due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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The ministry’s Regional Economic Development Specialists also supported rural economic recovery 
and development by providing tailored services, knowledge, and expertise to local stakeholders to 
address regional economic challenges and encourage investment attraction, competitiveness, and 
diversification efforts. Regional Economic Development Specialists guide and support investment 
attraction and site selection opportunities by coordinating investment leads and business 
development opportunities across stakeholder and innovation networks to inform of existing 
opportunities. 
 
Under Alberta’s Recovery Plan, growing the film and television industry was identified as a way to 
boost and diversify the Alberta economy. Through the Film and Television Tax Credit, the ministry 
is supporting the growth of Alberta’s cultural industries and diversification of the province’s 
economy. The Film and Television Tax Credit has been providing tax credits since 2020 with 24 
projects receiving tax credit certificates valued at more than $17.6 million to date. Nineteen 
productions were approved for tax credit certificates this fiscal year, with a total tax credit value of 
$16.4 million. 
 
In 2021-22, the Film and Television Tax Credit program was enhanced including an increased 
budget and elimination of the project funding cap. As a result, Alberta has seen unprecedented 
growth of its film industry as larger productions choose the province as a filming location. A 
recipient of the Film and Television Tax Credit, HBO began its yearlong production of The Last of Us 
in the Calgary area in 2021. The Last of Us is expected to bring significant investment to Alberta, 
and is estimated to have a GDP impact over three years ranging from $78.8 million to $111.9 
million. The International Alliance of Theatrical Stage Employees Local 212 in Calgary reported that 
over 1,300 Albertans worked on The Last of Us production. The International Alliance of Theatrical 
Stage Employees Local 212 also reported that its members’ total earnings were three times greater 
than in 2019 due to the significant increase in filming activity in the province. 
 
The ministry also led efforts to support and grow manufacturing in the province, including 
significant engagement with manufacturing stakeholders to understand opportunities and 
challenges facing the industry. The province worked to improve efficiencies and create a more 
favourable environment for investors in the manufacturing industry, including implementing the 
Job Creation Tax Cut, as well as the chemical and industrial manufacturing red tape reduction 
panels. The ministry also launched the Investment and Growth Fund, which included initial funding 
to support investment attraction in the manufacturing industry. In 2021-22, $6.34 million was 
committed to 3 projects to secure their investment in Alberta, of which $1.9 million was paid in 
2021-22. 
  
Internationally, through the Alberta Washington Office, the ministry continued to establish and 
expand relations in the U.S. and with the Biden administration. The office continued to monitor for 
protectionist measures or other issues, such as Buy America, deforestation and other policy issues, 
which could affect Alberta’s economic recovery and growth. 

1.2 Deliver programs and tools to support Alberta’s economic recovery and diversification, 
including targeted assistance for those businesses most impacted by public health 
measures. 

The Small and Medium Enterprise Relaunch Grant program supported Alberta’s job creators, 
including businesses, cooperatives, and non-profit organizations, to help offset the impact of public 
health measures. In total, the Small and Medium Enterprise Relaunch Grant program received 
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approximately 127,500 applications and as of March 31, 2022 provided approximately $670 million 
in support to more than 48,000 Alberta organizations that employed more than 345,000 workers. 
Eligible organizations received an average of $18,000 (out of a $30,000 maximum) from the 
program, based on the reduction in revenue they experienced as a result of being required to close 
or curtail their operations due to the pandemic. In fiscal year 2021-22 alone, $122 million in grant 
funding was provided to more than 22,700 eligible applicants. 
 
Over the fall and winter of 2021-22, Minister Schweitzer, Parliamentary Secretary of Small Business 
and Tourism Martin Long, and ministry officials held 18 business and industry roundtables. The 
roundtables provided clarity to stakeholders on changes to public health restrictions due to COVID-
19, as well as information on the Restrictions Exemption Program and the Restrictions Exemption 
Program Implementation Grant. Through the roundtables, the government gained a better 
understanding of the impacts of public health restrictions on different businesses and industries, in 
different regions of the province, in both rural and urban settings, and the supports they needed to 
assist the province’s economic recovery.  
 
Feedback from stakeholders helped the government to continuously improve its COVID-19 
supports to businesses. The Small and Medium Enterprise Relaunch Grant program responded to 
feedback by increasing the maximum funding amount from $5,000 to $15,000; lowering the 
revenue reduction threshold from 50 per cent to 30 per cent; and expanding eligibility to sole 
proprietors, newly incorporated businesses, taxi and ride share operators and 
hotel accommodations, to allow more businesses to apply. The Restrictions Exemption Program 
Implementation Grant leveraged Small and Medium Enterprise Relaunch Grant data, and enabled 
applicants to import much of their business information to reduce application time, and expedite 
payment timelines. Nearly 75 per cent of applicants benefitted from this enhanced feature.  
 
In addition to larger scale industry engagements, the ministry collaborated with Health and Labour 
and Immigration in conducting joint meetings with stakeholder associations providing feedback 
and seeking clarity on the Restrictions Exemption Program.  In October 2021, the Premier and 
Minister Schweitzer announced new supports for Alberta small and medium-sized businesses to 
help them implement and enforce the Restrictions Exemption Program. In just six weeks, the 
ministry designed the Restrictions Exemption Program Implementation Grant, which was opened 
to eligible businesses in November 2021. This grant offered a one-time payment of $2,000 to help 
offset the costs of implementing the Restrictions Exemption Program.  Alberta was the first 
jurisdiction in Canada to offer businesses support to offset costs associated with this kind of 
programming. As of March 31, 2022, more than 5,000 organizations, with an estimated 101,000 
workers, had been approved for $11.4 million in support from the Restrictions Exemption Program 
Implementation Grant. 

 
Through 2021-22, Biz Connect continued to be an integral part of Alberta’s COVID-19 response by 
providing workplace guidance and supports to help Alberta businesses during the pandemic. From 
April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022, Biz Connect responded to 4,814 email requests for information. 
Since the beginning of the pandemic in March 2020 through to March 31, 2022, Biz Connect 
responded to a total of 19,274 emails. A new Questions Tool launched on the Alberta Biz Connect 
website in the fall of 2021, which enabled stakeholders to ask questions directly and have the 
answers posted publicly on the website. This tool reduced the time and effort required to update 
the FAQ (frequently asked questions) document and streamlined the overall process when 
responding to questions from Albertans. 
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COVID-19 had a negative impact on women’s economic participation with gendered impacts 
threatening gender equality and economic recovery.  In 2021-22, the ministry collaborated with 
partner ministries, solicited stakeholder feedback, and considered systemic barriers to develop 
initiatives for women’s economic recovery. Funding of $10.6 million in 2021-22 provided multi-
year support to the new Women’s Economic Recovery Project. The Women’s Economic Recovery 
Project is comprised of three streams to address barriers to women’s economic participation: 

• Women’s Economic Recovery Challenge Grant Program: A $3.6 million program that 
funds initiatives led by Alberta non-profit organizations that help enhance women’s 
economic opportunities by providing strategies and solutions to address barriers and 
engage more effectively in the economy; 

• Women’s Economic Recovery Capital Growth Initiative: A $6 million project-based 
investment to provide capital support and services to women entrepreneurs in Alberta. The 
three-year grant was distributed to two not-for-profit organizations: $3 million for Alberta 
Women Entrepreneurs and $3 million for Community Futures Network of Alberta to enable 
these organizations to offer conditionally repayable loans and wrap-around supports to 
women entrepreneurs in Alberta; and 

• Women’s Economic Recovery Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics 
(STEM) bursaries: A $1 million bursary program that will help ensure that more women 
have the opportunity to pursue post-secondary education in science, technology, 
engineering and math (STEM) programs at three post-secondary institutions. Bow Valley 
College in Calgary and NorQuest College in Edmonton will each receive $400,000, and 
Yellowhead Tribal College in Edmonton will receive $200,000 for bursaries for women in 
STEM-related programs. 

 
To help Alberta communities and businesses take advantage of digital technologies and continue to 
adapt to changes in the retail sector, the ministry developed the Digital Economy Program in 
collaboration with stakeholders, Business Link and Digital Main Street. The ministry ensured the 
program reflected the needs of Alberta’s small and medium businesses, addressed gaps in support, 
and aligned with the federal Canada Digital Adoption Program. In 2020-21 the ministry provided 
$10 million to BusinessLink for the Digital Economy Program, which has a multi-year impact. The 
program consists of the ShopHERE program that creates online stores for small businesses at no 
cost, and the Digital Service Squad grant program that will create teams of Alberta post-secondary 
students and recent graduates who will provide technical support to businesses at no cost. Since 
the Digital Economy Program was launched, 1,618 Alberta small businesses have been served 
through the ShopHERE program and the regional digital service squads. Over the next two years, 
the Digital Economy Program is expected to support approximately 4,800 Alberta businesses. 
 
Through a three-year grant of $750,000 to Futurpreneur starting in 2020-21, of which $250,000 
was paid in 2021-22, the ministry supported and invested in young entrepreneurs and new 
business start-ups. Futurpreneur is a non-profit organization that provides financing, mentoring 
and support tools to aspiring business owners aged 18-39. Through this grant, the ministry 
supported the delivery of significant front-line services that include one-on-one business planning 
support, mentor outreach and training, workshops and networking opportunities. Specific supports 
were also provided for young Indigenous entrepreneurs. Futurpreneur has helped young 
entrepreneurs launch 118 new businesses in Alberta, and more than 200 businesses since 2020-21, 
well on the way to reaching its target of creating 225 businesses. 
 
The Community and Regional Economic Support (CARES) program, while paused since April 2020 
as a result of the pandemic, still had active projects that enhanced local economic conditions 
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through funding to not-for-profits, municipalities, First Nations, and Metis Settlements. Funding 
was to contribute to job creation and industry and sector competitiveness. As of March 31, 2022, 
the ministry provided extensions to allow 41 communities to complete their projects. One such 
project run by the Town of Bruderheim is “Women Rising” which is a project that provides tools 
and resources to help women across the region succeed in starting or growing a business. 
Additional time was required as COVID-19 impacted their ability to provide in-person training, 
mentoring, networking and support for rural women in business. 
 
Northern economic development remained a focus for the Ministry, and the Northern Alberta 
Development Council is a valuable partner in supporting the advancement of initiatives and 
programs that strengthen the local workforce. The Northern Alberta Development Council bursary 
program, to which the ministry contributed $150,000 in 2021-22, targets professions of high 
demand in northern Alberta and offers incentives for individuals to get an education and locate in 
northern communities. In collaboration with the Alberta Student Aid office, the Northern Alberta 
Development Council offered 255 return-service bursaries to Alberta students in the 2021-2022 
academic year. 

1.3 Implement immediate recovery supports for Alberta’s tourism sector, and develop and 
implement a 10-year Tourism Strategy with Travel Alberta to position the sector for 
growth. 

Throughout 2021-22, COVID-19 continued to impact the tourism industry. Uncertainty in the 
industry from repeated waves of the pandemic necessitated a continued focus on immediate 
supports for the industry.  

In June 2021, Travel Alberta’s mandate was expanded to enable the agency to work directly with 
communities, businesses, and entrepreneurs to develop new tourism destinations, products, and 
experiences to help the tourism industry recover and grow. Travel Alberta’s budget was increased 
by $22 million in 2021-22 to deliver on this expanded mandate. Highlights of Travel Alberta’s 
accomplishments include: 

• Supported approximately 200 projects related to the diversification and sustainability of 
small tourism businesses and organizations impacted by COVID-19. Projects included 70 
experience development projects, 92 partnership marketing initiatives and 37 festivals and 
events. Thirty-eight per cent of summer intake funding was directed to rural areas. 

• Provided $4.1 million in funding to Travel Alberta’s largest Destination Marketing 
Organizations (DMOs) partners (Explore Edmonton, Tourism Jasper, Banff and Lake Louise 
Tourism and Tourism Calgary) and a subsequent $5 million to Tourism Calgary and Explore 
Edmonton in response to the severe and ongoing impacts of COVID limiting business 
recovery. Additionally, nearly $1.2 million was provided to small and medium-sized DMOs 
to retain key staff and maintain operations. 

• Invested $5.5 million through a new fund, which was developed in collaboration with 
Treasury Board and Finance, to support 49 tourism infrastructure and product 
development projects, including 10 Indigenous tourism projects. Through these 
investments, Travel Alberta was able to leverage over $11 million in private sector capital 
resulting in a leverage ratio of 1:2.6. 

• Signed a three-year, $3.75 million agreement with Indigenous Tourism Alberta (ITA) to 
support reconciliation and support Indigenous entrepreneurs and businesses impacted by 
the pandemic to create new, authentic Indigenous tourism experiences and products across 
the province.  
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• In addition to the first-year ITA funding and commitment of $1.2 million, an additional 
$400,000 went toward marketing and content creation and over $1.33 million in tourism 
investment supported ITA partners. 
− Funding from Travel Alberta helped sustain 32 market and export-ready Indigenous 

tourism businesses and ITA was able to run cultural awareness workshops for industry 
participants across the province, including Travel Alberta. 

• Delivered largest-ever regional and domestic summer marketing campaign in alignment 
with key partners across the province, which drove more than 290,000 leads to Alberta 
tourism business websites. 

• Launched a winter U.S. marketing campaign in partnership with Destination Canada and 
key Alberta DMO partners to encourage Americans to visit during the ski season. The 
campaign resulted in more than 1.5 million clicks to the Travel Alberta website and through 
additional marketing, another 402,000 to partner websites. 

• Provided coaching and consultation to support small and medium-sized enterprises to 
accelerate business recovery and diversify products and experiences. Travel Alberta helped 
create 47 new tourism experiences in Alberta – 17 more than the 2021/22 target.  

• Supported and coached 17 businesses with land access issues and government regulatory 
processes to enable development and opportunities for tourism innovation.  

• Identified and promoted two new private-sector opportunities in Alberta Parks and 
supported two new tourism businesses in accessing a land-base for their new experiences, 
working with Alberta Environment and Parks, which will result in new tourism 
developments in 2022-23.  

 
Further information on results achieved by Travel Alberta is found in Travel Alberta’s annual 
report. 
 
In December 2021, the ministry announced that eligible accommodation providers with a 40 per 
cent decline in room revenue compared with 2019 would be able to keep tourism levy amounts 
collected between October 1, 2021 and March 31, 2022. This six-month abatement period freed-up 
$15.1 million in additional cash flow for eligible operators to employ staff, continue operations and 
provide services through the winter season. This additional assistance was provided as a direct 
response to stakeholder requests for a tourism levy abatement raised during the COVID-19 
Industry Roundtables. 

1.4 Remove barriers for entrepreneurs and small businesses, including further reducing 
red tape in the ministry through digital transformation and improved service delivery. 

Reducing red tape is a key part of Alberta’s Recovery Plan to create jobs, diversify the economy, and 
strengthen the workforce with skilled workers in all sectors of the economy. The ministry accounts 
for less than five per cent of the Government of Alberta’s overall regulatory burden. In 2021-22, the 
ministry continued to focus on streamlining and finding efficiencies in programs, policies, forms, 
and processes through digital transformation and improved service delivery. This helps support 
businesses, foster economic recovery, and contribute to an attractive investment climate. In 2021-
22, the ministry, including the department and agencies, exceeded the one-third reduction target 
and is reporting a 53.2 per cent cumulative reduction from its 2019 baseline count. Alberta 
Innovates achieved a cumulative reduction of 61.5 per cent when compared to its 2019 baseline 
count. 
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The majority of the ministry’s regulatory requirements continued to be attributed to Alberta 
Innovates. The agency has standardized its application forms across the majority of its programs to 
be more user-friendly by simplifying and eliminating non-essential questions, thereby enabling a 
suite of standardized application questions to be used across applicable programs. Furthermore, 
Alberta Innovates has removed several forms associated within its retired programs that no longer 
have active grants. Reducing red tape has been an important focus within Alberta Innovates and 
continues to be a driver in its standardization efforts. 
 
The ministry continued to participate in five red-tape reduction industry panels: including tourism 
and hospitality, small business, construction, chemical manufacturing, and industrial 
manufacturing. Participating in these panels allowed ministry officials to better understand red-
tape challenges industry faces and informed broader policy under consideration.  

Jobs, Economy and Innovation worked closely with other ministries to ensure a whole-of-
government approach to red tape reduction. Despite the ministry’s limited legislative authority 
over many of the issues raised by industry and through public submissions, the ministry stayed 
connected with industry stakeholders to support businesses in their day-to-day operations, 
facilitate job creation, remove barriers to investment, and drive economic recovery.  
 
The ministry continued to take action to further reduce red tape during COVID-19 to support and 
assist businesses within Alberta. For example: 

• The Alberta Biz Connect program provided workplace guidance and supports to help 
businesses and non-profits affected by COVID-19 to operate safely and support their 
recovery. While the Alberta Biz Connect portal was developed for businesses during the 
pandemic, it subsequently expanded and continues to operate as Alberta changed its public 
health measures on March 1, 2022.  
− Two key features of this program include the development of a Frequently Asked 

Questions (FAQ) document that was created to provide businesses with pertinent 
information without having to connect with a direct ministry contact, which, in turn, 
resulted in substantial email volume reductions. Second, the FAQ document was then 
replaced by an online FAQ tool where stakeholders submit their own questions and the 
ministry’s responses were copy-edited to provide consistent and standard pandemic-
related messaging. This approach provided more information that was self-service, 
open to the public and searchable to tailor the information to the needs of the user. 
 

As reported above, in the fall of 2021, the department conducted 17 rural economic development 
engagement sessions and an online survey to gather the perspectives of rural Albertans on the 
challenges and opportunities for rural economic development. Participants in these sessions 
emphasized the issues of red tape reduction, workforce development and training, inter-municipal 
collaboration, regional organizations, Indigenous communities, rural business supports, investment 
attraction, and marketing rural Alberta as a tourism destination. These learnings are informing red-
tape reduction efforts and the development of Alberta’s Rural Economic Action Plan, which is led by 
Agriculture, Forestry, and Rural Economic Development. 
 
With the goal of removing barriers and strengthening rules related to international trade and 
investment for Alberta businesses and those seeking to invest in the province, the ministry 
continued to coordinate the Government of Alberta’s engagement in international trade agreements 
and negotiations, including with the United Kingdom (launched in March 2022), Indonesia 
(launched in June 2021), the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (announced in November 
2021), and India (resumed in March 2022).  
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Outcome One Performance Metrics  

Performance Measure 1.a: Net investment in Alberta film and television productions for 
every $1 of Alberta Film and Television Tax Credits (FTTC) 

This measure reflects the associated Alberta expenditure for every $1 in tax credit issued to eligible 
production firms. This demonstrates Alberta’s ability to attract medium and large production firms 
and corresponding investments, indicating economic capacity and competitiveness in this sector, in 
alignment with government’s commitment to grow cultural industries by 25 per cent in the next 10 
years.   
 
2021-22 represents the first full year of reporting on this measure. The target for 2021-22 was set 
to achieve $4 of the corresponding investment by film and television productions for every dollar of 
tax credit issued in 2021-22. The actual result for 2021-22 was $4, which met the target of the 
measure. In 2021-22, the FTTC program approved 31 film and television productions, which will 
support the creation of thousands of jobs in Alberta. The program issued tax credits for 19 
productions during the fiscal year. Alberta’s film and television sector were able to create jobs 
relatively quickly in response to a production’s decision to proceed. These productions can provide 
substantial spillover benefits to many other sectors (including those that were severely affected by 
the COVID-19 pandemic, such as the travel and hospitality sector). This result demonstrates part of 
the benefit Alberta derives from providing the tax incentive for the film and television sector.   
 
Approximately 60 per cent (11 out of 19) of these productions were eligible for a 30-per cent tax 
credit, which is available to Alberta-based productions that fulfill additional eligibility criteria to 
demonstrate their ties to the province (including a minimum threshold for Alberta ownership and 
Alberta production spending).  The remaining eight productions were eligible for a 22-per cent tax 
credit, which does not have the additional Alberta-oriented criteria. Larger and higher value 
productions tend to be eligible for the 22 per cent tax credit rate, as they tend to be non-Alberta 
based (productions financed by Netflix, HBO, Paramount, etc.). When those productions receive 
their tax credit they cause the ratio to rise, which suggests that an increased proportion of 
productions were attracted to the province (compared to those that are originally based in Alberta). 
 
Net investment in Alberta film and television productions for every $1 of Alberta Film and 
Television Tax Credits (FTTC) 
($ dollars) 

 

Source: FTTC Program, Program Delivery Branch 
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Outcome Two: Investment and trade are driving Alberta’s economic recovery 

Investment and trade are integral to Alberta’s economic recovery, development and growth. During 
2021-22, the work of the Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation helped attract investment to the 
province and promote trade in support of Alberta’s recovery and a return to growth.  

Key Objectives 

2.1 Create the right conditions to encourage investors to choose Alberta through 
implementation of the province’s Investment and Growth Strategy. 

One of the key components of Alberta’s Recovery Plan is execution of the Investment and Growth 
Strategy, which was released in September 2020 to attract job-creating private sector investment 
from Canada and around the world in primary and emerging sectors. The Investment and Growth 
Strategy harmonizes the implementation of economic strategies across Alberta government 
ministries including Jobs, Economy and Innovation, Energy, Agriculture and Forestry, and Treasury 
Board and Finance.  
 
In 2021-22, the ministry continued to lead the implementation of the Investment and Growth 
Strategy, including through the work of Invest Alberta Corporation. The ministry worked with 
Invest Alberta Corporation to implement Alberta’s new deal-closing tool, the Investment and 
Growth Fund. The fund elevates the province’s competitiveness during investors’ late-stage 
investment decision making. The Investment and Growth Fund helps to bring impactful 
investments to Alberta where they create jobs, inject capital and provide additional benefits 
through local supply chains.  It is a deal-closing incentive that provides between $500,000 and $5 
million to eligible, well-established companies seeking to make significant new investments in 
Alberta, rather than in competing jurisdictions. In 2021-22, $6.34 million was committed to three 
projects to secure their investment in Alberta, which includes $1.9 million paid in 2021-22. The 
three approved projects are expected to bring in almost $779 million in capital investment to 
Alberta and more than 1,700 jobs during construction and a further 120 permanent jobs. 
 
In support of the Investment and Growth Strategy, the ministry also implemented a new concierge 
services model to provide timely and seamless end-to-end customized investment services for 
investors across government departments, agencies, and orders of government. This new model 
aims to strengthen Alberta’s investment attraction ecosystem. To facilitate implementation of the 
concierge services model, a Concierge Services Unit was established within the ministry to provide 
a whole-of-government approach and facilitate relations with internal and external partners to 
address investors’ needs. Attracting and expanding investment is a shared responsibility between 
the Invest Alberta Corporation, Jobs, Economy and Innovation and other Government of Alberta 
ministries, municipalities, and businesses. The ministry continued to build and foster this 
collaboration throughout the year. 
 
The ministry also supported senior-level foreign private and government delegation visits, which 
provided an opportunity to promote Alberta’s advantages, attract investment and encourage trade, 
resulting in job creation and economic growth. During these engagements, the ministry works to 
showcase Alberta’s leadership in the key and enabling sectors of energy, agriculture, forestry, 
aerospace, environment, financial services, technology, life sciences, education, employment, 
culture, and tourism to incoming delegations. While the COVID-19 pandemic has inhibited regular 
in-person visits, the ministry supported several events in 2021-22, both virtually and in person, 
including: 
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• Worked with Alberta Protocol and Global Affairs Canada to organize a session to provide an 
update on the fiscal outlook of the province to more than 70 international Heads of Mission 
based in Ottawa and throughout Canada. 

• Welcomed U.S. Consul General, Ms. Holly Monster, on an official visit to Edmonton. 
• Coordinated additional visits with the new Consuls General in Calgary including Japan and 

the U.K. 
• Facilitated and/or supported the signing of Memorandum of Understandings (MoUs) with a 

number of jurisdictions including South Korea, Japan, Alaska, and Montana. 
• Led or coordinated engagement in concert with the federal government on a number of key 

policy issues, including deforestation in California and New York, energy infrastructure, and 
the conflict in Ukraine. 

• Led Alberta’s participation with various U.S. transboundary organizations that Alberta 
maintains membership in, such as the Council of State Governments (CSG) National, CSG 
Midwest, CSG West, Canadian/American Border Trade Alliance, and the Pacific NorthWest 
Economic Region. 

• Continued working with stakeholders and partners to support Alberta’s export of products, 
services and technologies and enhanced Alberta small-to-medium businesses’ 
competitiveness in the global market. 

• Supported trade events such as: 
− the Canadian Business Women in Trade Virtual Trade Mission to Benelux and Poland in 

2021; 
− the Canadian Council of the Americas’ “Day of the America’s” webinar on business 

opportunities in Latin America in September 2021; 
− Alberta Team mission to the World Petroleum Congress in Houston, Texas in November 

2021; 
− Mission to the China International Petroleum & Petrochemical Technology and 

Equipment Exhibition in June 2021; and 
− In November 2021, the ministry supported 32 Alberta companies looking to secure 

partners, contracts and regional representation at the Abu Dhabi International 
Petroleum Exhibition and Conference. 
 

In addition, the ministry supported the following elected official missions in 2021-22: 
• MLA delegation to the Pacific NorthWest Economic Region (PNWER) Annual Summit in Big 

Sky, Montana in August 2021  
• MLA mission to the PNWER Economic Leadership Forum in Vancouver in November 2021, 
• MLA mission to the Council of State Governments National Annual Meeting in Santa Fe, New 

Mexico in December 2021, 
• Led MLA’s involvement in two Canadian/American Border Trade Alliance virtual sessions in 

May 2021 and December 2021. 
• Premier’s mission to the National Governors’ Association winter meeting in Washington, 

D.C. in January 2022. 
• Worked with Alberta Energy and the Alberta Washington Office to organize Premier’s 

participation in CERAWeek Energy Conference in Houston, Texas in March 2022. 
• Coordinated and set-up Minister’s investment attraction mission to Toronto with Invest 

Alberta Corporation in March 2022. 
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2.2 Through Invest Alberta Corporation, promote Alberta as a prime investment location, 
engaging new companies to grow in this province. 

In 2021-22, Invest Alberta Corporation continued to promote, identify and pursue investment in 
Alberta, with a focus on high-value and/or high-impact investment. The corporation also supported 
the Alberta government in performing trade promotion and advocacy activities. Invest Alberta 
Corporation played a key role in supporting Alberta’s economic recovery by stimulating job 
creation, investment, and new market opportunities ensuring Alberta is a top destination of choice 
for investment, and that investors have access to professional and collaborative investment 
services.  Over the fiscal year, Invest Alberta Corporation led marketing campaigns that resulted in 
more than 106 million impressions in key markets around the world. 

Highlights of investments facilitated include the following:  
• In June 2021, India-based IT solutions provider Mphasis announced  plans to set up a new 

Canadian headquarters in Calgary and create 500 to 1,000 tech jobs over the next two 
years;  

• In June 2021, Air Products announced a world scale energy complex in Edmonton will begin 
with a transformative $1.3 billion net-zero hydrogen production and liquefaction facility. 
This facility will play a role in the development of the hydrogen economy across Western 
Canada;   

• In July 2021, following the signing of the memorandum of understanding between the 
Invest Alberta Corporation and RBC,  the company announced  a new Calgary Innovation 
Hub that will create 300 technology jobs over the next three years in high-demand areas;   

• In October 2021, Dow announced its plan to build the world’s first net-zero carbon 
emissions integrated ethylene cracker and derivatives site in Fort Saskatchewan; 

• In November 2021, tech giant Amazon Web Services announced a significant investment in 
Alberta’s tech and innovation ecosystem. The company announced plans to invest up to $4.3 
billion by 2037 on a new cloud computing operation in Calgary, creating more than 950 
jobs; 

• In December 2021, a fintech company Brane Inc. (“Brane”) announced it chose Calgary to 
headquarter its Brane Trust operations, creating up to 100 full-time jobs over five years and 
building on Alberta’s growing fintech and blockchain ecosystems;  

• In January 2022, EY launched its first Canadian-based EY Finance Centre of Excellence in 
Calgary and is expected to create 200 new jobs over the next three years, and 

• In March 2022, PACE Canada, a global developer and investor in clean energy announced 
that its Canadian head office would be moving to Alberta as the company scales up new 
operations in the province. 

 
Further information on results achieved by Invest Alberta Corporation is found in the Corporation’s 
annual report. 
 

2.3 Define, defend and promote Alberta’s leadership on Environmental, Social, Governance 
(ESG) standards across sectors by working with partner ministries to develop and 
implement a government-wide ESG Strategy. 

Investors are focused on issues of climate change, waste, pollution, water resource depletion 
(Environment), working conditions, human rights, employee diversity, gender inequality (Social), 
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board diversity, ethics and executive pay (Governance). Alberta continues to highlight the 
province’s ESG strengths to potential investors. 

Throughout 2021-22, the ministry supported the ESG Secretariat, headquartered in Executive 
Council. The ESG Secretariat coordinates the strategic and operational engagement activities of the 
Government of Alberta in support of showcasing Alberta’s achievements in lowering emissions and 
demonstrating the critical role Alberta’s resources, technology and diverse energy mix will play in 
the global energy future. The Secretariat is the focal point for the development of communications 
strategies and materials to aid others in positions of influence or with existing communications 
roles to deliver Alberta’s ESG message. 

The ministry supported the internal work of the ESG Secretariat to develop and implement the 
systems, frameworks, tools, teams, and relationships needed to carry out its role. The ministry, 
including the Invest Alberta Corporation, also supported rapid response efforts on behalf of the 
Premier to communicate the high ESG performance of Alberta’s energy companies and increase 
awareness of the government’s ambitious and sustainable regulations of the energy sector that 
promote safety and responsible resource development. 

The ministry also manages the Technology Innovation and Emissions Reduction (TIER) Economic 
Recovery Program, which is delivered through Alberta Innovates and that supports the 
government’s ESG efforts, and Alberta’s Recovery Plan. The TIER Economic Recovery Program is 
designed to support cleantech and energy projects that will accelerate innovation, support long-
term competitiveness and stimulate growth. Funding for the TIER Economic Recovery Program is 
$50 million, over three years; in 2021-22, the second year of the three-year program, $20 million 
was expended on program areas that include cleaner hydrocarbon production, innovative 
hydrocarbon products, bioenergy, Carbon Capture Utilization and Storage, and water innovation.  
TIER funding to 23 projects will support more than 1,300 jobs and contribute $169.2 million to the 
provincial GDP after project completion and before 2030. The projected annual GHG emission 
reduction is 11.7 million tonnes by 2030. 

2.4 Through the Alberta Enterprise Corporation, expand venture capital investments into 
Alberta companies. 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation grows Alberta’s venture capital industry by investing in venture 
capital funds that finance early-stage technology companies. The corporation focuses on funds that 
have a strong commitment to Alberta – including an employee presence in the province. Alberta 
Enterprise Corporation supports Alberta’s venture capital ecosystem by connecting Alberta 
inventors, innovators, and entrepreneurs to money, markets, management and mentors – by 
fostering a thriving venture capital industry in our province.  
 
Alberta Enterprise Corporation investments are long-term; since its inception in 2008, Alberta 
Enterprise Corporation has committed $269 million for investment to twenty-five venture capital 
funds and three angel co-investment funds; 65 Alberta companies have been supported. There are 
2,414 Albertans directly employed in the companies the corporation has invested in, with an 
estimated additional 11,520 indirect jobs created. This is a 4.8 ratio of direct to indirect jobs. 
Alberta Enterprise Corporation is investing  $34.4 million into four funds to continue supporting 
Alberta’s growing tech industry: $5 million in Amplitude Venture Capital’s precision medicine 
venture fund, $10 million in Yaletown Partners’ Innovation Growth Fund II, $7.5 million USD in 
Flying Fish Fund II and $10 million in Panache Fund II. These four investments are part of the 
government’s overall $175-million recapitalization of the Alberta Enterprise Corporation as a key 
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priority of Alberta’s Recovery Plan to help revive our economy and create more jobs for Albertans. 
Recapitalization is occuring over 3 years, with $75 million provided in 2020-21, $50 million 
provided in 2021-22 and another $50 million to be provided in 2022-23. The Canadian Venture 
Capital Association recently ranked Alberta as Canada’s fourth-largest tech hub for invested dollars 
and deal volume, confirming that these ongoing investments are having a positive impact.  
 
Alberta Enterprise Corporation’s funds invested in a number of Alberta technology companies in 
2020-21, including QuoteToMe, Drugbank, Userful, Virtual Gurus, Samdesk and many others. 
 
In July 2021, Alberta Enterprise Corporation released the 2021 Alberta Technology Deal Flow 
Study. The corporation periodically produces these studies to provide stakeholders with a shared 
understanding on the strength and make-up of technology deal flow across sectors and regions in 
Alberta. Deal Flow is the stream of business proposals, pitches and investment offers that venture 
capital, angel and private equity investors identify and engage with on a daily basis. Strong deal 
flow is an indicator of a thriving ecosystem, strong economy and healthy capital markets. 
 
The 2021 Alberta Technology Deal Flow Study builds upon studies previously published in 2012, 
2016, and 2018. These studies have found that Alberta’s technology sector continues to grow as 
more venture capital has become available to early-stage companies. The 2021 study revealed the 
number of technology companies in the province has more than doubled since 2012. The majority – 
58 per cent – are located in Calgary, 30 per cent are in Edmonton and almost 13 per cent are in 
other regions of the province. 
 
The 2021 study also found that the Alberta technology industry is maturing with almost 40% of 
Alberta tech companies exceeding annual revenues of $1 million, a 66 per cent- increase since 2018.  
Alberta tech start-ups are also more likely than ever to receive funding with over 57% having 
undergone one or more rounds of fundraising and 43 per cent  having raised at least $1 million USD 
to date. Sixty-seven per cent of Alberta companies are developing a software solution. Companies 
are also integrating digital technologies like Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning (36 per 
cent) and big data (27 per cent) into their products and services. These figures reflect Alberta’s 
strength in Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning, including Reinforcement Learning. The 
study reported that female participation in Alberta’s technology companies remained strong with 
the proportion of female tech founders remaining at almost 30 per cent, a trend consistent with the 
2018 study. Alberta's female participation at the founder and co-founder level leads globally when 
compared to Crunchbase’s 2020 Funding to the Female Founders report, which found that 20 per 
cent of global start-ups were female, founded. 
 
Further information about results achieved by Alberta Enterprise Corporation is found in the 
corporation’s annual report.  
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Outcome Two Performance Metrics  

Performance Measure 2.a: Cumulative value of Alberta Enterprise Corporation attracted 
venture capital funds (and their syndicate partners) invested in Alberta businesses ($ 
millions) 

Access to capital enables Alberta businesses to start up and grow, which supports economic growth 
and diversification. Alberta Enterprise Corporation (AEC) is a fund-of-funds that invests in venture 
capital funds and angel co-investment funds that subsequently invest in technology companies. This 
is the cumulative value of investments made by AEC invested in venture-capital funds and their 
syndicate partners into Alberta companies. This includes investments by AEC, the venture capital 
funds and its syndicate partners (other funds or individuals). 
 
The target for 2021-22 was set to achieve $680 million of AEC cumulative investment (including 
AEC funds and syndicate partners) into Alberta companies. Actual result for 2021-22 was $1,004.6 
million, exceeding the target of the measure by 47 per cent. Finally, new capital from the 
government enabled the AEC to make more investments than anticipated. These investments 
spurred new investments into Alberta, which further contributed to the AEC surpassing the original 
investment target. The result confirmed that for every $1 dollar invested by AEC, venture capital 
funds and their syndicate partners invest more than $4.50 into Alberta companies.  
 
According to the Canadian Venture Capital and Private Equity Association, Canada increased from 
509 deals in 2020 to 752 deals in 2021 (a 47.5 per cent increase). In 2021, Alberta had 87 deals, a 
64.2 per cent increase over the prior year. 2021 was a record-breaking year for Canadian venture 
capital investment both in terms of dollar amount and in number of deals (deal count). Alberta 
experienced the highest level of venture capital on record in Alberta with an overall increase of 
about 15% in dollar amount. Alberta accounted for approximately 4% of Canadian venture capital. 
 
Cumulative value of Alberta Enterprise Corporation attracted venture capital funds (and their 
syndicate partners) invested in Alberta businesses 
($ million) 

 

Source: Alberta Enterprise Corporation (AEC) 
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Performance Indicator 2.b: Total Value of Venture Capital Investment in Alberta 
This indicator measures the value of venture capital investment in Alberta. Venture capital is a 
critical component of growing the technology sector and innovation by providing equity financing 
to start-ups, driving long-term economic growth and diversification. 

In 2021, Alberta saw $561 million in venture capital investment in 87 deals, surpassing last year’s 
record year. The information, communications and technology, and the life sciences industries saw 
the most number of deals. 

Total Value of Venture Capital Investment in Alberta 
($ million) 

 

Source: Canadian Venture Capital & Private Equity Association (CVCA) 

  

37

100

227

455

561

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

https://www.cvca.ca/


 

Results Analysis 

 

 

32 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 

Outcome Three: Technology and innovation are enabling Alberta to build on its strengths  

Technology and innovation are critical to Alberta’s long-term development and growth. In 2021-22, 
the ministry worked to ensure that technology and innovation were positioned to enable Alberta to 
build on its strengths. 

Key Objectives 

3.1 Set the direction for the province’s technology and innovation 
systems through the development and implementation of an 
Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy. 

The Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy is a critical component of 
the government’s broader economic growth and recovery efforts as 
identified in both Alberta’s Recovery Plan and the Investment and Growth 
Strategy. The Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy will position 
Alberta to become an internationally recognized technology and 
innovation hub that develops and attracts people, business and 
investment to grow the technology sector and diversify the economy. It 
will also support Alberta in leading the country in attracting capital and 
investment by 2030 and developing a competitive landscape and the right 
enablers to drive entrepreneurship and grow priority sectors. By 2030, 
technology firms will have created 20,000 new jobs and generate $5 
billion more in annual revenue. As part of this effort, the ministry will: 

• Strengthen research and innovation planning, and work 
across entities to align provincial contributions for post-
secondary research to promote commercialization to meet 
economic diversification priorities 

• Support implementation of an intellectual property 
framework for Alberta, which will include fostering 
industry/institution collaboration, and adoption of faculty 
promotion and tenure policies to incentivize faculty to 
pursue entrepreneurial activities 

 
Alberta Innovates was identified as a key to implementation of the Alberta 
Technology and Innovation Strategy. Under the strategy, Alberta 
Innovates will focus on growing Alberta’s artificial intelligence ecosystem, 
with a budget allocation of $37 million over four years, including 
investments in the Alberta Machine Intelligence Institute (Amii). Alberta is 
home to some of the best and brightest talent, world-class post-secondary 
institutions and one of Canada’s three centres of excellence in artificial 
intelligence. The application of artificial intelligence will accelerate commercialization of solutions 
developed in such fields as health care, smart agriculture, clean energy and manufacturing. These 
investments will also leverage federal funding announced in Budget 2021 via the renewed Pan-
Canadian Artificial Intelligence Strategy and the National Quantum Strategy. 
 
The Major Innovation Fund will advance post-secondary pan-provincial innovation and seed 
market-oriented technology development that aligns with Alberta’s research priorities, strengths 
and unique infrastructure. The Innovation Catalyst Grant program provides seed funding for 
talented people to create start-up technology companies that are building on discoveries made at 

Actions that Support the 
Priorities of the Government 
of Alberta Strategic Plan 
 
Key Priority Two:   
Protecting Livelihoods 
 
Objective Five:  
Making Alberta more 
dynamic, innovative and 
sustainable. 
 
Optimized the government’s 
investment in the technology 
sector to ensure it is focused 
on commercialization and job 
creation. 
 
Adopted a smart approach to 
innovation and make Alberta 
competitive for global high-tech 
investment. 
 
Continued  to implement the 
Technology Innovation and 
Emissions Reduction (TIER) 
system, to help industrial 
facilities reduce emissions and 
invest in clean technology. 
 
Delivered tools and programs 
to support investment and job 
creation and the recovery of 
Alberta’s economy. 
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Alberta universities, polytechnics and colleges. Investments in both the Major Innovation Fund and 
the Innovation Catalyst Grant programs will also reinforce Alberta’s reputation as a technology hub 
and destination for venture capital and private investment.   
 
Alberta is a leader in the quantum space and is poised for growth. The use of new quantum 
technologies and applications have the potential to offer solutions across sectors, including energy 
and mining, autonomous navigation, medical imaging and diagnostics, and cyber security. 
According to a study commissioned by National Research Council of Canada, the quantum science 
and technology sector is estimated to create 209,200 jobs across Canada by 2045. Government 
investments in quantum science will grow this important sector in Alberta and help the province 
capitalize on the commercialization potential.  
 
The Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy also identifies renewed research priorities that 
will replace the 2017 Alberta Research and Innovation Framework. The Framework set out shared 
outcomes and aspirational innovation targets for government and provincially supported research 
and innovation organizations such as Alberta Innovates and post-secondary institutions. The 
updated research priorities in the Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy were developed 
following engagement across relevant government departments, agencies, and post-secondary 
institutions and encompass the following sectors: 

• Energy, Minerals, and Clean-tech; 
• Agriculture; 
• Health and Disease Prevention; and 
• Emerging Technologies. 

3.2 Through Alberta Innovates, provide innovation and commercialization investments 
and programing. 

Alberta’s Recovery Plan and the Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy set the framework for 
Alberta to capitalize on opportunities within the research, technology, and innovation space. In 
2021-22, innovation and commercialization investments and programming were provided by the 
ministry, including through Alberta Innovates. 
 
In 2021-22, $15 million was provided to Alberta Innovates for the Scaleup and Growth Accelerator 
program to accelerate Alberta’s companies to scale and grow and to propel innovation through 
digital transformation. In September 2021, Alberta Innovates announced four successful 
accelerators to support startups in Alberta’s technology sector under this program: Alberta 
Accelerators by 500 Global, Community Safety and Wellness Accelerator, Alberta Catalyzer, and 
Plug and Play. The four accelerators have already recruited companies and launched their program 
offerings. These accelerators will nurture seed-stage technology companies, connect start-ups with 
international corporations, offer business support and advice to entrepreneurs in Alberta, including 
those that use artificial intelligence in the social sectors. As a result of the growth experience by 
these companies, the initiative is expected to assist approximately 500 companies by September 
2024 and create 735 jobs by September 2027. 
 
The TIER Economic Recovery Program, reported under Key Objective 2.3, consists of a set of 
shovel-ready projects that will also accelerate innovation in support of long-term competitiveness 
and stimulate growth in a critically important sector of Alberta’s economy. 
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In January 2022, Alberta Innovates announced an investment of more than $6 million through Stage 
2 of its Health Innovation Platform Partnerships program (HIPP) to grow the digital health 
ecosystem in Alberta. HIPP will deliver the platforms, infrastructure, tools and resources Alberta’s 
investors need to test, develop and accelerate new health innovations and technologies.  The Stage 
2 funding supported three projects at the Northern Alberta Institute of Technology’s Centre for 
Advanced Medical Simulation, the Institute of Health Economics, and the Alberta Diagnostics 
Ecosystem Platform for Translation (a province-wide partnership between the University of 
Alberta, University of Calgary, the Alberta Precision Exchange, Alberta Precision Laboratories and 
DynaLIFE Medical Laboratories).  
 
In March 2022, Alberta Innovates announced an investment of $13 million to support 22 projects 
through the Digital Innovation in Clean Energy (DICE) program and the Clean Resources business 
unit to help create a cleaner environment, help grow a low-carbon economy and create jobs in 
Alberta. 
 
In June 2021, Alberta Innovates launched a $1-million program to combat Chronic Wasting Disease, 
a serious condition affecting Alberta’s cervid population and threatening agricultural trade and 
food security.  The investment will support essential research to better understand the disease and 
develop countermeasures to safeguard Alberta’s agriculture industry, the environment, and animal 
and human health. 
 
Further information about results achieved by Alberta Innovates is found in Alberta Innovates’ 
annual report. 
 
Since 2019, the pilot GreenSTEM program, a collaboration between the Ministry of Jobs, Economy 
and Innovation, University of Alberta, University of Calgary, and University of Lethbridge, has 
enabled a technology and innovation entrepreneurial environment that promoted the creation of 
21 new technology ventures, 113 jobs, 10 awarded patents and 26 patent applications in progress, 
$2.18 million in revenue, $13.7 million in private investment, and $6.9 million in additional public 
funding. An example: Wyvern, one of the companies participating in the first cohort of the 
GreenSTEM Pilot Program, announced on January 17, 2022 that it successfully raised $4.5 million to 
further advance its cutting-edge satellite imaging technology. Wyvern, founded by University of 
Alberta graduates, is developing innovative satellite imaging technology that will enable the 
acquisition of timely and high-quality satellite data to help industries make informed decision. 

3.3 Incent investment in research and development to build the province’s innovative 
capacity. 

The ministry’s Research Capacity Program, through its multiple competition streams, continued to 
contribute to Alberta’s innovation capacity through talent and research facility development at 
Alberta’s universities and colleges. The program also leveraged federal funds from the Canada 
Foundation for Innovation. In 2021, the Research Capacity Program committed $59 million, over 
four years, for 63 projects that leveraged more than $315 million in funding from partners, 
including the Canada Foundation for Innovation, securing $5 on every dollar invested. 
 
The Research Capacity Program contributes to a strong base of talent, capacity and world-class 
infrastructure at Alberta’s post-secondary institutions that support the recruitment and retention 
of leading researchers. This creates the pre-commercial technology environment needed to support 
innovation, grow companies and attract investments. For example, projects funded via the 2021 
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Small Equipment Grants stream pursue innovation in a variety of key areas including agricultural 
biotechnology, clean resource development, health innovation, and material technology 
development. Some noteworthy examples include a University of Alberta project to develop 
sustainable concrete materials for construction applications comprised mainly of industrial wastes; 
University of Calgary’s research to investigate sustainable infrastructure solutions for Indigenous 
communities—particularly related to water, wastewater and housing; and a University of 
Lethbridge project that aims to develop greener processes to prepare fluorine, a chemical used in 
many areas such as the AgTech and pharmaceutical industries. 
 
The ministry also invests in Strategic Research Initiatives to build on Alberta’s existing strengths 
and emerging opportunities to bridge the gap between post-secondary institutions and industrial 
collaborations. For example, in 2021, the ministry invested in a partnership between IBM, the 
University of Calgary, and the University of Alberta. The result, the IBM Center for Advanced 
Studies, is designed to equip post-secondary students to apply IBM technology to real-world 
challenges, and to enhance IBM and Alberta-driven innovation capacity through research. The 
ministry’s 2021-22 investment of $5 million (over four years) leverages more than $13 million in 
partner funding, including that from IBM and exemplifies how it creates the right conditions for 
talent to develop through an internationally recognized partner that will lead to economic 
diversification and growth, and provides an opportunity to showcase an Alberta post-secondary-
government-industry partnership, in alignment with the Alberta Technology and Innovation 
Strategy. 
 
Major Innovation Fund investments have resulted in 130 industry partnerships, supported four 
spin-off companies, developed 48 prototypes, and attracted 256 highly qualified personnel to 
Alberta. The department has set the province up for success by using the Major Innovation Fund to 
invest in priority areas such as quantum technologies. These investments have positioned Alberta 
to be a national leader in quantum-driven digital technologies, attracting investments and 
businesses, developing talent, diversifying the economy and further supporting Alberta’s Recovery 
Plan. 
 
Major Innovation Fund investments in quantum science have attracted multinationals, such as 
MPhasis to the province and further supports Alberta’s Technology and Innovation Strategy. 
Previous to 2021, the Major Innovation Fund provided $5.8 million over three years to the 
University of Calgary (UCalgary) for a pan-provincial quantum technologies project. Subsequently, 
MPhasis worked with UCalgary and Invest Alberta Corporation to establish a strategic partnership, 
announced in June 2021, to accelerate the development of a quantum-computing ecosystem in 
Calgary that will create 500 - 1,000 jobs by the end of 2023. This will be further realized through 
the Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy supported Quantum City Initiative which will be 
funded through $23 million over five years, including $3 million provided to the University of 
Calgary in 2021-22, and leveraging more than $68 million in partner funding including Mphasis. 
Quantum City is a key aspect of the talent development, and investment attraction/branding pillar 
of Alberta’s Technology and Innovation Strategy. In the future, these investments further attract 
additional anchor companies interested in commercializing quantum technologies. 
 
The Research Capacity Program, Strategic Research Initiatives, and Major Innovation Fund support 
the critical role of Alberta's post-secondary institutions in the province’s long-term economic 
recovery as key elements of Alberta’s advantage. They strengthen the province’s innovation 
capacity and help to fuel long-term economic growth by developing talent, enhancing innovation 
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capacity and capability and attracting immediate and follow-on investments, which contribute to 
economic growth and diversity. 

3.4 Leverage innovation and technology to facilitate the movement of Alberta goods, 
people and ideas through the development and implementation of an Aviation, Aerospace 
and Logistics Strategy. 

Alberta relies on complex, integrated logistics networks and supply chains that operate across 
jurisdictions in order to drive economic activity in the province and enable a competitive 
investment environment. Effective provincial, national, and international supply chains underpin 
Alberta’s ability to fully access global markets for provincial exports and to import critical goods.  

Supply chain resiliency was a key focus of Alberta’s aviation, aerospace and logistics strategy in 
2021-22, given the pandemic and supply chain disruptions such as the flooding in British Columbia. 
This included several projects initiated by the ministry to increase government’s understanding of 
the interdependencies of supply chains in western Canada, identify supply chain risks and current 
vulnerabilities, and identify opportunities to improve the resiliency of supply chains. 

The ministry also supported the recovery and development of the aviation, aerospace and logistics 
industries. Most visitors to Alberta arrive by air making it essential to the rebound and growth of 
Alberta’s visitor economy. Travel Alberta provided incentives to accelerate the recovery of air 
service between Alberta and targeted tourism markets. In the first half of the fiscal year, Travel 
Alberta re-established Alberta’s air links with 77,000 incremental seats across seven routes and 21 
weekly flights between Calgary (YYC) and Edmonton (YEG) international airports and key U.S. 
destinations. While progress gained in the first half of the year was lost due to additional waves of 
the pandemic, learnings and relationships are in place to make significant progress going forward. 

The ministry assisted Transportation in the establishment of the Strategic Aviation Advisory 
Council to provide expert advice on ways to bolster the aviation and aerospace sectors in order to 
increase economic development opportunities, expand markets and create jobs in our province. 
Council membership was announced in August 2021. 

The ministry also participated in an aerospace-defence sector virtual meeting with Alberta 
stakeholders including Western Economic Diversification, Trade Commissioner Service, Alberta 
Innovates, Edmonton Global, Calgary Economic Development, and Invest Alberta Corporation. 
Discussions focused on changes to Western Economic Diversification and its funding programs, 
Industrial and Technological Benefit credits, and Canadian Department of National Defence 
procurement opportunities for Alberta companies. 

3.5 Build on and promote Alberta’s emerging platforms in the pharmaceuticals and life 
sciences sector through the development and implementation of a Pharmaceutical and 
Life Sciences Strategy. 

To support the province’s strategy to grow the pharmaceuticals and life sciences sector, in 
December 2021, government announced its commitment to fund up to $81.2 million to support the 
development of the vaccine ecosystem in Alberta. The funding will support the entire life cycle of 
vaccine research, development, and manufacturing in Alberta. It will also help to build our domestic 
vaccine resiliency. 
 
After an independent third-party review, the government selected four proposals: University of 
Alberta - $55.1 million; Entos Pharmaceuticals - $15.5 million; Applied Pharmaceutical Innovations 
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- $5.6 million; and Northern RNA - $5 million. In 2021-22, $5 million was paid to the University of 
Alberta, while the remaining funding was shifted to 2022-23, pending decisions on federal 
contributions to the projects. Funding for Entos Pharmaceuticals, Northern RNA, and Applied 
Pharmaceutical Innovations is contingent on their receiving the remaining proposal funding, which 
is possible with a combination of federal and private funds. A deal between Entos Pharmaceuticals 
and Eli Lilly, a global pharmaceutical company, was subsequently announced. Entos, which 
develops next generation genetic medicines, entered into an agreement with Eli Lily that includes a 
$50 million upfront payment as well as equity investments in the company. Eli Lilly will support 
clinical development and commercialization of potential therapeutics developed by Entos to treat 
neurological diseases such as Alzheimer’s disease, Parkinson’s disease, and others.  
 
Applied Pharmaceutical Innovation and the Li Ka Shing Institute of Virology joined forces to create 
Canada's first facility to take the latest scientific pharmaceutical insights from the lab through 
clinical trials into the marketplace. The Canadian Critical Drug Initiative, announced in November 
2021, will fill the capacity gap in the development of new drugs and local manufacturing. The new 
partnership will seek federal and private funding to establish a 40,000-square-foot manufacturing 
facility at a cost of about $169 million. The initiative could be producing drugs within two years, 
which will provide a significant economic opportunity for Alberta to enhance its pharmaceutical 
capabilities, while diversifying and increasing job opportunities. This work is supported by the 
department’s commitment of $20 million over four years (2021-2025) to the Li Ka Shing Applied 
Virology Institute, of which $5 million was provided to Li Ka Shing in 2021-22. 
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Outcome Three Performance Metrics  

Performance Measure 3.a: Sponsored research revenue attracted by Alberta’s 
comprehensive academic and research universities ($ millions) 

This measure reflects research capability in the province through the success of Alberta’s 
Comprehensive Academic and Research Universities (previously referred to as Comprehensive 
Academic and Research Institutions) in attracting sponsored research funding from several 
sources. The results give an indication of the research capability, capacity and competitiveness of 
these institutions. 
 
Sponsored research revenue is generated annually based on information received from Alberta’s 
Comprehensive Academic and Research Universities from previous year activities and as such, the 
last actual data for reporting purposes is from the 2020-21 fiscal year. The target for 2020-21 was 
set to achieve $1,033 million of sponsored research revenue. The actual result for 2020-21 was 
$1,080 million, exceeding the target. The 2020-21 result increased by 17 per cent compared to the 
previous year’s revenue of $922 million. The $158 million increase in total sponsored research 
revenue was related to increased research revenue from endowment, federal and provincial 
contributions. Over the past 10 years, total sponsored research revenue shows an upward trend, 
with an average yearly increase of 2.76 per cent over that time.  
 
The results indicate the research capability, capacity and competitiveness of these institutions in 
attracting funding from various sources, including federally. This includes the Natural Sciences and 
Engineering Research Council, the Canadian Institutes for Health Research, the Social Sciences and 
Humanities Research Council, the Indirect Costs of Research Program, and the Canada Foundation 
for Innovation. 
 
Sponsored research revenue attracted by Alberta’s comprehensive academic and research 
universities 
($ millions) 

 

Source: Alberta’s Comprehensive Academic Research Universities Report, collected and analyzed by Jobs, Economy and 

Innovation 
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Performance Indicator 3.b: Growth of technology sector jobs 

This indicator measures total job growth in the technology sector, and is a key measure of success 
in developing the sector and of economic diversification. 
 
Following a decline in jobs in 2020, due to the impacts of COVID-19 and the oil price crash, in 2021, 
the number of jobs in Alberta’s technology sector grew at 19.0 per cent compared to 8.6 per cent 
growth for jobs across all sectors in the province. The increase was driven primarily by increases in 
the two largest sub-industries: computer systems design and related services, which grew 14.9 per 
cent to 22,900 jobs (representing 46.5 per cent of jobs the sector) and telecommunications, which 
grew 32.6 per cent to 19,735 jobs (40.1 per cent of the sector). This, combined with other indicators 
such as the record amounts of venture capital raised in the province, indicates that Alberta’s 
technology sector is on a strong growth trajectory. 
 
Growth of technology sector jobs 
(Per cent growth) 

 

Source: Statistics Canada 
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Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology  

No single measure or indicator can fully represent an outcome in the ministry annual report. The 
suite of performance measures and indicators reported in the report provide a better picture of 
overall progress toward achieving the ministry’s outcomes.  
 
Performance measures provide information on the ministry’s progress toward achieving the 
outcomes and key strategies in the business plan. Results of performance measures can be 
attributed to the work of the ministry. Targets for the performance measures are intended to be 
aggressive but realistic. While the specific methodologies vary, all targets are set taking into 
consideration historical results and current environmental factors.  
 
Performance indicators capture far-reaching outcomes that the ministry’s programs and initiatives 
intend to influence over the long term. These indicators are also influenced by many factors outside 
the ministry’s control. Therefore, performance indicators reflect what the ministry intends to 
influence, as well as the larger societal context within which the ministry operates. 

Performance Measure 1.a: Net investment in Alberta film and television productions for 
every $1 of Alberta Film and Television Tax Credits (FTTC) ($ dollars) 

2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 

4 4 

 

2021-22 was the first full year for which data for this measure was collected. Data is collected 
directly from applicants via the department’s client-relations management (CRM) database, which 
has security and privacy protocols in place. As part of the application and approval processes, 
successful applicants must provide audited financials to validate Alberta expenditures prior to tax 
credit issuance. Department staff review this information for accuracy and base the tax credit 
amount on its review findings and validation. The amount of expenditures from approved 
productions spent in Alberta in contrast to the tax credit issued are measured and reported. 
 
Source: FTTC Program, Program Delivery Branch 
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Performance Indicator 2.a: Cumulative value of Alberta Enterprise Corporation attracted 
venture capital funds (and their syndicate partners) invested in Alberta businesses ($ 
millions) 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021-22 

Target 

2021-22 

Actual 2017-18  2018-19  2019-20  2020-21  

406.8 494.6 563.0 703.0 680 1,004.6 

 

This measure is reported to the Government of Alberta by the Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
(AEC) as required by legislation (Alberta Enterprise Corporation Act, S. 14 Disclosure of 
Information), and the Transfer Agreement (S. 16 Reporting Requirements). The last actual number 
was collected from the latest available AEC Annual Report. 
 
AEC gathers information on investments from its venture capital firms as a condition of the Limited 
Partner (LP) Agreement between AEC and its venture capital funds. The value of AEC (venture 
capital funds and their syndicate partners) funds investment in Alberta business in aggregate to 
date is collected through the funds’ submissions. 
 
Source: Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Performance Indicator 2.b: Total Value of Venture Capital Investment in Alberta ($ millions) 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021 

Actual 2017  2018  2019  2020  

37 100 227 455 561 

 

Data are compiled from the Canadian Venture Capital & Private Equity Association (CVCA)’s Market 
Overview Reports. The CVCA released the 2021 year-end Venture Capital Canadian Market 
Overview Year in Review on March 1, 2022. The reports include verified completed equity, quasi-
equity venture capital and venture debt deals. Non-equity or project-based government funding, 
pharmaceutical development deals, venture capital-backed acquisitions, and angel financing are not 
included. The sectors include Information, Communication and Technology (ICT), Life Sciences, 
Cleantech, and Agribusiness.  

Source: Canadian Venture Capital & Private Equity Association (CVCA) 

 

 

https://www.cvca.ca/
https://www.cvca.ca/research-insight/market-reports
https://www.cvca.ca/research-insight/market-reports
https://www.cvca.ca/
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Performance Measure 3.a: Sponsored research revenue attracted by Alberta’s 
comprehensive academic and research universities ($ millions) 

Prior Years’ Results 

2020-21 

Target 

2020-21 

Actual 

    

2016-17  2017-18  2018-19  2019-20  

914 933 1013 922 1033 1080 

 

Sponsored research revenue data are collected directly from the Comprehensive Academic and 
Research Universities (CARUs). The CARUs submit the data using a template and guidelines that 
outline the information required and specific instructions regarding how the revenue should be 
reported. The guidelines provided to the CARUs by the ministry were developed to augment the 
guidelines in place for corresponding annual reporting submissions by the CARUs to the Canadian 
Association of University Business Officers (CAUBO) to report on Total Sponsored Research 
Revenue at Alberta universities.  
 
CARUs are required to follow the CAUBO reporting guidelines for the appropriate year. The CARUs 
derive the data from audited financial statements and supplementary schedules. The reported data 
is compiled and analyzed by the ministry in the Sponsored Research Revenues at Alberta’s 
Comprehensive Academic and Research Universities report.  
 
Source: Alberta’s Comprehensive Academic Research Universities Report, collected and analyzed by 
Jobs, Economy and Innovation 

Performance Indicator 3.b: Growth of technology sector jobs (%) 

Prior Years’ Results 
2021 

Actual 2017  2018 2019 2020  

-0.1 6.1 3.2 -2.5 19 

 

Data are extracted from Statistics Canada’s Table 36-10-0489-01: Labour statistics consistent with 
the System of National Accounts (SNA), by job category and industry. Data for the table comes from 
Statistics Canada’s annual provincial program of Canadian Productivity Accounts (CPA), which 
produces jobs, hours worked, labour compensation, and other metrics at the provincial and 
industry levels. Data on Alberta’s jobs from North American Industrial Classification System 
(NAICS) codes: 3341, 3342, 3244, 3245, 5112, 517, 518 and 5415, were compiled and calculated. 
 
Source: Statistics Canada 



 

 Financial Information 

 

 

 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 43 

Financial Information  

Table of Contents  

Reporting Entity and Method Consolidation ...................................................................................... 44 

Ministry Financial Highlights .................................................................................................................... 45 

Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited) ................................................................. 45 

Revenue and Expense Highlights .................................................................................................... 46 

Breakdown of Revenues (unaudited) ........................................................................................... 47 

Expenses – Directly Incurred Detailed by Object (unaudited) ........................................... 48 

Supplemental Financial Information ..................................................................................................... 49 

Portfolio Investments (unaudited) ................................................................................................. 49 

Tangible Capital Assets (unaudited) .............................................................................................. 50 

Financial Statements of Other Reporting Entities ........................................................................... 51 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation ....................................................................................................... 52 

Alberta Innovates .................................................................................................................................. 74 

Invest Alberta Corporation ................................................................................................................ 97 

Travel Alberta ....................................................................................................................................... 116 

Financial Information ................................................................................................................................ 137 

Lapse/ Encumbrance (unaudited) ............................................................................................... 138 

 

 

  



 

Financial Information 

 

 

44 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 

Reporting Entity and Method Consolidation 
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Ministry Financial Highlights  
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Revenue and Expense Highlights  
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Breakdown of Revenues (unaudited) 
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Expenses – Directly Incurred Detailed by Object (unaudited)  
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Supplemental Financial Information 

Portfolio Investments (unaudited) 

(in thousands) 
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Tangible Capital Assets (unaudited)  

(in thousands)  

 

 

 



 

 Financial Information 

 

 

 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 51 

Financial Statements of Other Reporting Entities 

 

Table of Contents  

Index of Audited Financial Statements 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation ....................................................................................................... 52 

Alberta Innovates .................................................................................................................................. 74 

Invest Alberta Corporation ................................................................................................................ 97 

Travel Alberta ....................................................................................................................................... 116 

 

  



 

Financial Information 

 

 

52 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Financial Statements  

Table of Contents  

Independent Auditor’s Report ......................................................................................................... 53 

Statement of Operations ..................................................................................................................... 56 

Statement of Financial Position ....................................................................................................... 57 

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets ............................................................................. 58 

Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses ...................................................................... 59 

Statement of Cash Flows ..................................................................................................................... 60 

Notes to the Financial Statements .................................................................................................. 61 

Schedule 1 – Expenses – Detailed by Object ............................................................................... 71 

Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure .............................................................................. 72 

Schedule 3 – Related Part Transactions ....................................................................................... 73 

 

  



 

 Financial Information 

 

 

 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 53 

Independent Auditor’s Report  



 

Financial Information 

 

 

54 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 

 



 

 Financial Information 

 

 

 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 55 

 



 

Financial Information 

 

 

56 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 

Statement of Operations 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Operations 

Year ended March 31, 2022  
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Statement of Financial Position 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Financial Position 

As at March 31, 2022  

(in thousands)  
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Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands)  
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Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses  

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands)  
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Statement of Cash Flows 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Schedule 1 – Expenses – Detailed by Object 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Expenses – Detailed by Object 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 

 

  



 

 Financial Information 

 

 

 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 73 

Schedule 3 – Related Part Transactions 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Related Party Transactions 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 

 

  



 

Financial Information 

 

 

74 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 

Alberta Innovates 
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Consolidated Statement of Operations 

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Statement of Operations 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As at March 31, 2022  

(in thousands)  
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Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands)  
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands)  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

March 31, 2022 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Schedule 1 – Consolidated Expenses – Detailed by Object 

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Expenses – Detailed by Object 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Alberta Innovates 

Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Schedule 3 – Related Party Transactions 

Alberta Innovates 

Related Party Transactions 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Related Party Transactions (Cont’d) 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Schedule 4 – Consolidated Allocated Costs 

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Allocated Costs 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Statement of Operations 

Invest Alberta Corporation 

Statement of Operations 

Year ended March 31, 2022  
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Statement of Financial Position 

Invest Alberta Corporation 

Statement of Financial Position 

As at March 31, 2022  
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Statement of Change in Net Debt 

Invest Alberta Corporation 

Statement of Change in Net Debt 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

Invest Alberta Corporation 

Statement of Cash Flows 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Invest Alberta Corporation 
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Invest Alberta Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

March 31, 2022  

 

 

  



 

 Financial Information 

 

 

 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 109 

Invest Alberta Corporation 
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Invest Alberta Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

March 31, 2022  
 

 

  



 

 Financial Information 

 

 

 Jobs, Economy and Innovation | Annual Report 2021–2022 111 

Invest Alberta Corporation 
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Invest Alberta Corporation 
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Schedule 1 – Expenses – Directly Incurred Detailed by Object 

Invest Alberta Corporation 

Expenses – Directly Incurred Detailed by Object 
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Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Invest Alberta Corporation 

Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Year ended March 31, 2022  
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Schedule 3 – Related Party Transactions 

Invest Alberta Corporation 

Related Party Transactions 

Year ended March 31, 2022  
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Statement of Operations 

Travel Alberta 

Statement of Operations 
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Statement of Financial Position 
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Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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March 31, 2022  
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Travel Alberta 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

March 31, 2022  
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Schedule 1 – Expenses – Detailed by Object 

Travel Alberta 

Expenses – Detailed by Object 

March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Travel Alberta 

Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Schedule 3 – Related Party Transactions 

Travel Alberta 

Related Party Transactions 

Year ended March 31, 2022  

(in thousands) 
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Financial Information  
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Lapse/ Encumbrance (unaudited) 

(in thousands)  
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Annual Report Extracts and Other Statutory Reports 

Statutory Report: Public Interest Disclosure Act 

Section 32 of the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act reads: 

32(1) Every chief officer must prepare a report annually on all disclosures that have been made to 
the designated officer of the department, public entity or office of the Legislature for which 
the chief officer is responsible.  

(2) The report under subsection (1) must include the following information: 

(a) the number of disclosures received by the designated officer, the number of disclosures 
acted on and the number of disclosures not acted on by the designated officer; 

(b) the number of investigations commenced by the designated officer as a result of 
disclosures; 

(c) in the case of an investigation that results in a finding of wrongdoing, a description of 
the wrongdoing and any recommendations made or corrective measures taken in 
relation to the wrongdoing or the reasons why no corrective measure was taken.  

(3) The report under subsection (1) must be included in the annual report of the department, 
public entity or office of the Legislature if the annual report is made publicly available. 

There were no disclosures of wrongdoing filed with my office for your department between April 1, 
2021 and March 31, 2022.   

 


